KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of a meeting of the Cabinet held in the Darent Room - Sessions House on Monday, 24 September 2018.

PRESENT: Mr P B Carter, CBE, Miss S J Carey, Mr M C Dance, Mr G K Gibbens, Mr R W Gough, Mr P M Hill, OBE, Mr E E C Hotson, Mr P J Oakford, Miss C Rankin and Mr M Whiting

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs A Beer (Corporate Director Engagement, Organisation Design & Development), Mr D Cockburn (Corporate Director Strategic & Corporate Services), Mrs B Cooper (Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and Transport), Dr A Duggal (Deputy Director of Public Health), Mr M Dunkley CBE (Corporate Director for Children Young People and Education), Mrs C Head (Acting Deputy S151 Officer and Head of Finance Operations), Mrs A Tidmarsh (Director, Older People and Physical Disability) and Mr B Watts (General Counsel)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

76. Minutes of the Meeting held on 16 July 2018 (Item 4)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 16 July 2018 are correctly recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.

77. Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring - July 2018 (Item 5)

- 1. Mr Oakford (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Traded Services) introduced this report which set out the budget monitoring position up to 30 July 2018-19 for both revenue and capital budgets.
- 2. The forecast revenue position was £6.726m including roll forwards which was an improvement on position at the same time last year.
- 3. Mr Oakford referred to Table 1b at 3.3 within the agenda papers. This showed the building pressure on the Children, Young People and Education Directorate, part of this pressure related to the Asylum service.
- 4. Ms Head explained that the authority was in a considerably better position this year than this time last year and initial monitoring for next month suggests this should continue.
- 5. The Leader invited each Cabinet Member and Corporate Director to give a brief overview of the improved position.
- 6. Children, Young People and Education:
 - overspend in this area was a national phenomenon.

- Asylum was a material factor with the bulk being the gap relating to care leavers and costs associated with the reception centre.
- SEN related expenditure and educational psychology were large areas of overspend.
- Home to School Transport and Special Educational Needs or Disabilities (SEND) and High Needs represent the two largest financial risks to the County Council.

Adult Social Care

- Pressure in learning disabilities, this was mirrored nationally.
- Mental Health, whilst majority of expenditure incurred by NHS this was an important issue and KCC continued to ensure that it protected voluntary organisations.
- Adult Social Care balanced budget was looking achievable. There
 were significant risks around transfers of care.
- Increased residential nursing placements this would be monitored.
- Planning for the winter; joint working with NHS.

Growth Environment and Transport

 MRs Cooper was confident that the budget would be balanced, the biggest variables were waste tonnage and the effects of the weather. Mr Whiting explained that the service remained vigilant about the waste situation.

Strategic and Corporate Services

 There were significant pressures mainly relating to property, infrastructure and the contact centre and there was confidence that the budget would be balanced.

Public Health

 Public Health was forecasting an underspend and this reflected the good work that was being done. The big issue was the Public Health Grant which had been reduced

RESOLVED that Cabinet:

i) **Note** the forecast revenue budget monitoring position for 2018-19 and capital budget monitoring position for 2018-19 to 2020-21, and that the forecast pressure on the revenue budget needs to be eliminated as we progress through the year.

78. Quarterly Performance Report, Quarter 1, 2018/19 (Item 6)

Richard Fitzgerald (Business Intelligence Manager – Performance) was in attendance for this item.

- 1) Miss Carey introduced this report which set out the key areas of performance for the authority. The strength of this report was that the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) had been measured consistently over a long period. The report brought together an overview of the Council with just 34 KPIs. Each Cabinet Committee looked in more detail at their own directorate.
- 2) Mr Fitzgerald set out the highlights of the report, it was the Quarter 1 report with results up to the end of June 2018. Performance was generally good for the

quarter with the majority of indicators rated as green. He drew out important information for Members as follows:

a. Customer Services

i. Good performance was maintained for caller satisfaction although call volumes were up.

b. Economic Development

i. Jobs created and safeguarded from the Regional Growth Fund (RGF) stood at 4192 jobs.

c. Environment and Transport

- i. Following the bad weather in early 2018 outstanding works were high at the end of June, the pot hole blitz continued over the summer and so it was hoped that figures in the next report should be lower.
- ii. Waste Management performance was maintained with only 1% of waste going to landfill.

d. Children, Young People and Education

- i. The provision primary attainment results were above the national average
- ii. Percentage of schools good or outstanding 91%
- iii. Apprenticeship starts have not shown the levels expected but the numbers should improve as we move into the new financial year.
- iv. There continued to be pressure on the completion of Education, Health and Care Plans and this was significantly off tartget. There were high levels of demand and this was expected to continue.

e. Integrated Children's Services

- i. Early help closed with outcomes achieved was ahead of target,
- ii. Number of children in care remained stable.

f. Adult Social Care

- i. Contacts resolved at first point of contact remained above target.
- ii. Admissions to residential nursing care were higher than expected and number of people experiencing delayed transfer of care continued to be a pressure

q. Public Health

- i. Health Checks completed in year was below target but this was a temporary issue relating to IT systems.
- ii. Number of universal checks completed by the health visitor continued to be ahead of target.
- 3) In conclusion there were many positive results, areas where performance was lower than expected were being monitored and were subject to management action.
- 4) The Leader commented on the rising number of placements into nursing care, it was important to ensure that health partners were paying their fair contribution.

Regarding young people in care, it was thought that there should be a report on those leaving care with an additional column to monitor this.

- 5) Mr Whiting (Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and Waste) explained that his portfolio was above target for all indicators. He drew Members attention to the 100,000 LED lights which was part of the largest programme in the country delivering £5million savings to the authority. He paid tribute to the contractors and staff who had brought that about. Referring to Brexit the service continued to work with partners to secure plans for all scenarios from deal to no deal. One waste management it was necessary to be vigilant but less than 1% waste was being sent to landfill, half of the remaining 99% was made into energy and the remainder was being recycled in other ways.
- 6) Mr Gibbens (Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health) referred to delayed transfers of care, this was a significant issue and a report would be brought to Cabinet in December. Regarding safeguarding, initial contacts had increased, people were encouraged to bring enquiries forward to be investigated.
- 7) Mr Gibbens referred to life expectancy and health inequalities which was widening in Kent. This was a national trend but was nothing to be proud of and it should be addressed, relevant reports would be requested for the Cabinet Committees.
- 8) Mr Gough (Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education) referred to the growth in Education Health Care Plans (EHCPs) per 1000 school age population. There had been a dramatic increase since 2016 and this was the main red indicator which was being focussed on. Many other indicators were positive with a good level of development such as KS2 outcomes, school places and ofsted judgements.
- 9) Miss Carey referred to the risk register and specifically safeguarding, there would be further independent audits of case files to complement existing internal reviews and audits taking place in March 2019. The risk register was not just about identifying risks it was about mitigating them. Risks could also be marked down and raised as appropriate, depending on how the mitigating actions progressed.
- 10) The Leader stated that a report was due to Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee on the benefit changes on migration out of London, the indicators a year ago suggested there was not the impact that was first expected but this report was awaited.

RESOLVED that Cabinet note the Quarter 1 Performance Report.

79. Motion to Exclude the Press and Public (*Item 7*)

RESOLVED: That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

80. Exempt Minute of the meeting held on 16 July 2018 (Item 8)

RESOLVED that the exempt minute of the meeting held on 16 July is correctly recorded and that it be signed by the Chairman.